
  
 
 
 
Joann M. McDermon, Mayor Alice Derian, ICMA-CM 
Mike Benson, Mayor Pro Tem            Town Manager 
 
Aldermen:                                          Nancy Avery 
Fred Fontana Interim Town Clerk 
Richard Grant                                   
Tom Leonard 
Connie Pletl 
                                       
                              

 
 
2008 Loggerhead Court    (910) 328-1349 
North Topsail Beach, NC 28460            www.northtopsailbeachnc.gov                        
    
 NTB is an equal opportunity provider and employer. 

Zoning Board of Adjustment 
Special Meeting Draft Minutes 

Wednesday, June 28, 2023, at 5:30 PM 
2008 Loggerhead Court, North Topsail Beach NC 28460 

 
Present: Hanna McCloud – Chair, Paul Dorazio - Vice Chair, Scott Morse, Cameron Kuegel, Susan 
Meyer. 
Absent: Lisa Lee Kozlowski, Stu Harness. 
Present Other: Planning Director Hill, Clerk to the Board of Adjustment Winzler, IT Director 
Schwisow, Town Manager Derian, Town Attorney Edes (via Teams). 
 

CALL TO ORDER Chair McCloud called the meeting to order at 5:34 p.m. 
 

ADOPTION OF THE AGENDA Mr. Dorazio made a motion to adopt the agenda. Mr. Morse 
seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0. 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES Mr. Kuegel made a motion to strike the approval of the March 22, 
2023 minutes from the agenda. Mr. Morse seconded the motion. The motion passed 
unanimously, 5-0. 
 

OLD BUSINESS 
 

CASE #AA23-000003: Appeal by Mark Wilson 
Attorney Edes introduced the case history, reviewed the quasi-judicial hearing process, and 
polled the Zoning Board of Adjustment regarding their roles as impartial decision makers. He 
asked the Board if anyone had any basis that would prevent them from being fair and impartial 
and to base their votes solely on the competent evidence produced during the hearing. All 
Board of Adjustment members responded to the questions in the negative. 
Attorney Edes asked Planning Director Hill if the appellant in the second case, Mr. Plaford, was 
in attendance. 
Planning Director Hill confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Plaford if he heard the procedural guidelines that Attorney Edes 
reviewed with the Board of Adjustment. 
Mr. Plaford confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Plaford if he would be ok to proceed on the stipulation that those 
same guidelines apply for his appeal. 
Mr. Plaford agreed. 
Clerk Winzler swore in appellant Mark Wilson, Surveyor Charles Riggs, and Planning Director 
Deb Hill. 



Page 2 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Planning Director Hill entered into evidence exhibits NTB-1 through NTB-30 and added the 
building permit B22-000019 MODIFIED as exhibit NTB-31. 
Mr. Wilson had no objections to the exhibits NTB-1 through NTB-31. 
The Board accepted into evidence exhibits NTB-1 through NTB-31 without objection.  
Planning Director Hill presented a concise review of the staff report. 
Mr. Kuegel asked what the modification was EXHIBIT NTB-31. 
Mr. Hill explained that it was a contractor change request. 
Mr. Wilson cross examined Planning Director Hill. He asked what are the requirements to pull a 
zoning permit in the State of North Carolina? 
Ms. Hill replied going outside the building footprint. 
Mr. Wilson stated that new construction, addition of square footage to a house, or changing 
the use of a structure required a zoning permit. 
Ms. Hill disagreed, explaining that there are many more characteristics which trigger the need 
for a zoning permit. To focus on Mr. Wilson’s project, a zoning permit was not required based 
upon the initial review because the application did not indicate going outside of the footprint of 
the existing building. 
Mr. Wilson asked for clarification between a deck and a beach access. 
Ms. Hill replied that the project description did indicate no change in footprint. If the 
application had indicated expanding the footprint, the zoning review would have included an 
examination for meeting the setbacks. 
Mr. Wilson stated that there were no changes or additions to the home. They were putting it 
back the way it was. Tina Martin required the change to a switchback.  
Ms. Hill stated that she understood the point Mr. Wilson was trying to make. She pointed out 
the condition on the CAMA permit (Coastal Area Management Act) that requires the applicant 
to apply for all local and state permits as well. The applicant must also meet the Town’s 
requirements. The onus fell on the applicant to modify the existing permit to include a change 
in footprint. Constructing a crossover is not replacing some deck boards, handrails, and stair 
treads. Indicating no change in footprint was incorrect. The degree of work performed was a 
change in footprint, indicated by driving pilings into the dune. 
Mr. Wilson countered by offering that there had been pylons in the dunes before the damage 
from Hurricane Florence. Those had been removed, and this project was to repair the deck. Mr. 
Wilson mentioned the need for a means of egress.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson to ask questions of Ms. Hill in cross examination, to formulate 
any comments in question form. 
Mr. Wilson acquiesced, noting that the Town required a deck permit application which was 
submitted, and explained that he had no further questions for Ms. Hill.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson for confirmation that Mr. Wilson had been asking Ms. Hill 
about the Notice of Violation regarding the failure to obtain zoning and any applicable flood 
permits. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed, explaining that there was no need for a zoning permit as this project was 
not new construction, not building an addition of square footage to the home, nor was it 
changing the use of the structure. 
Attorney Edes asked if the scope of work that was being performed was contained within the 
scope of work on the issued building permit. 



Page 3 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Mr. Wilson replied yes, repairing the deck.  
Planning Director Hill disagreed, as the authority with jurisdiction for the enforcement and 
interpretation of the UDO (United Development Ordinance) for zoning and development, and 
as the Planning Director of the Town of North Topsail Beach.  
Attorney Edes asked what triggered the notice of violation for development without a permit. 
He asked Ms. Hill what development occurred that triggered the need for either a zoning 
and/or a flood permit. 
Planning Director Hill explained it was shown in the evidence as contained in exhibits four and 
five, the photos showing two-by-four materials going across between the deck and the 
sandbags, laying across the sand dunes, as well as two-by-fours in the ground, with boards 
nailed together at the top. 
Attorney Edes asked if that work was beyond the scope of work submitted for the building 
permit. 
Planning Director Hill confirmed, adding that the Building Inspector also issued a Stop Work 
Order for what he considered inconsistency with the code, included in the evidence.   
Mr. Wilson explained the Stop Work Order placement from his perspective. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if the type of work described by Ms. Hill included in the scope 
of work on the building permit application. 
Mr. Wilson answered that as he wrote it, repairing of the deck, yes. That was how he 
understood it. Mr. Wilson concluded his cross examination of Planning Director Hill. 
Mr. Kuegel asked who submitted exhibits NTB-9 and NTB-10, the pictures showing a white 
railing and deck, and asked to ascertain the age of the photos, as they appear to be dated prior 
to Florence.  
Planning Director Hill explained the photos were embedded in the body of the email from Mark 
Wilson. 
Chair McCloud stated the photos were old.  
Mr. Wilson stated that he did not take the photos, nor did he know when they were taken.  
Mr. Kuegel asked Mr. Wilson if any of the crossover with the white railings existed the first time 
Mr. Wilson stepped onto the property. 
Mr. Wilson stated that it was severely damaged. It was not safe to walk on. Mr. Wilson 
provided no evidence to support it.  
Vice Chair Dorazio referred to the crossover shown on the survey dated April 12, 2022. 
Chair McCloud read from Mr. Wilson’s email, “We aren’t doing a beach access, we’re doing 
exactly what was listed on the CAMA permit and the building permit, simply repairing what is 
there to a similar manner. The back steps are landing on the dune and traversing the back of 
the house.”  
Chair McCloud noted that on NTB-9 and NTB-10 in the pictures there were no sandbags. The 
survey was on NTB-14. Exhibits NTB-4 and NTB-5. 
Mr. Kuegel asked when the sandbags were installed, and do they stretch the whole length of 
the back of the house. 
Mr. Wilson answered that the sandbags cannot be seen from the perspective of the photos 
taken from the beach. The sandbags were visible from the back door of the house looking down 
towards the ocean. Mr. Wilson stated that the sandbags extend the full width of the house, and 
he did not know when the sandbags were installed.  



Page 4 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Planning Director Hill stated that the beach crossover was present in the 2018 Onslow County 
Aerial. It was not there in the 2020 aerial, nor in the 2022 aerial.  
Attorney Edes stated that the reason for the case is Ms. Hill’s determination that the scope of 
work exceeded the original scope of work submitted on the building permit application. The 
evidence shows that a crossover was there in 2018, but not in 2020 or 2022.  
Ms. Hill confirmed and explained that the Town issues separate beach access permits for beach 
crossovers. She noted the verbiage on the Stop Work Order “Apply. Need CAMA, zoning, 
building permit” signed by Ralph Allen on March 7th, 2023.  
Vice Chair Dorazio pointed out that the new structure was nothing like the original structure. 
Attorney Edes invited Mr. Wilson to present evidence as to why Mr. Wilson felt as though Ms. 
Hill erred in the interpretation of the Town Codes sections listed in the notes of the violation. 
Mr. Wilson reiterated that the deck was significantly damaged, and he stated they were not 
doing a crossover because of the dune damage. Tina Martin of CAMA advised them to install a 
switchback such as in exhibit 9 with a landing then going back to the house. They applied for a 
beach access permit after Tina Martin issued two new CAMA permits. Mr. Wilson argued that 
he did not need a zoning permit as to his knowledge; he did not change the footprint. Mr. 
Wilson stated the beach access permit is pending the adjournment of the Board of Adjustment 
meeting. He expressed a willingness to do whatever.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he understood that there were three distinct violations from 
which he appealed.  
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if any of the development encroached within five feet of the 
dune. 
Mr. Wilson stated the doing the piers and the house itself as it sat was within five feet of the 
toe of the engineered berm. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if any of the work performed on his behalf encroached within 
five feet of the toe of the dune. 
Mr. Wilson stated that he had difficulty understanding the question. He stated that they did 
work on the berm. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he sought a zoning permit or a flood permit in connection 
with the work. 
Mr. Wilson answered no. 
Attorney Edes asked if any of the work performed went beyond the scope of work that was 
permitted by the building permit permitted. 
Mr. Wilson stated to his knowledge, no.  
Attorney Edes invited Mr. Wilson to have Mr. Riggs provide testimony relevant to the issues of 
the appeal. 
Charles Riggs, 502 New Bridge Street, Jacksonville, spoke. He passed out new exhibits to the 
Board of Adjustment, and explained since the March 2023 meeting, he surveyed the property.  

 Exhibit 32: Survey of the property dated April 6, 2023 showing the proposed beach 
access suggested by the Division of Coastal Management  

o Attorney Edes recommended the Board receive the exhibit into evidence 
without objection. 



Page 5 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

 Exhibit 33: Enlargement of the beach access area from exhibit 32 - the April 6, 2023 
survey showing the existing dwelling, the sandbags, the sandbag elevation, the 
proposed four-by-four landing, steps coming down, a four-by-five foot landing at the 
base, and post-and-rope going out to the beach. Mr. Riggs stated the remodeling that 
occurred stayed within the envelope of the house itself. Mr. Riggs stated that the 
sandbags are considered a berm and not a dune, although the Division of Coastal 
Management has begun referring to berms as starter dunes, they do not permit 
hardened structures across a berm. They do allow a mat (for municipalities) or post-and-
rope fence on a crossover. 

 Exhibit 34: Photograph taken on March 30, 2023 from the south toward the north or the 
west to the east at the existing covered deck and the sandbags along the dunes. The 
yellow flags indicated the first line of stable vegetation was on the landward toe of the 
sandbags, two or three feet off the ocean-side of the dwelling.  

 Exhibit 35: Photograph taken from the east or north toward the west or south taken of 
the of the dune, or berm, and the sandbags. 

 Exhibit 36: Exemption Number 18-23 signed by Tina Martin for Exempted Project – 
Maintenance and Repair of Existing Structures, which gave the applicant permission to 
proceed with maintenance and repair to the structure. 

Attorney Edes asked Mr. Riggs if, as a land surveyor familiar with the CAMA permitting process, 
particularly with minor permits, if he agreed that those incorporate or make reference to that 
you may need to check with your local municipality to see if there are additional regulations 
that may apply. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Edes if, in his professional experience, he would agree that that 
because CAMA provided an exemption letter it did not, in and of itself alleviate the 
responsibility of the landowner to check with the local town for their local ordinances.  
Mr. Riggs agreed and pointed out that verbiage on the last line of the exemption letter. 

 Exhibit 37: Exemption Number 20-23 from Tina Martin addressing the redistribution of 
sand consistent with current rules, also stating that it does not alleviate the necessity of 
obtaining any state, federal, or local authorization, and North Carolina building permits. 

 Exhibit 38: Agent Authorization for Mr. Riggs to speak on their behalf.  
Mr. Riggs’ presented the following points: 

 He has surveyed this property since 2017.  
 The preliminary survey in the original staff report included the existing structures, 

where the existing access was located, and a proposed structure showing the house 
moving landward toward the street. 

 Mr. Wilson’s proposed beach access was located within the center of the house as 
opposed to the exact location of the decking where it had been previously, however the 
proposed access was a smaller footprint.  

 Mr. Riggs stated that he believed the Town’s five-foot rule exempts beach accesses from 
damage. 

 Mr. Riggs acknowledged that Mr. Wilson did damage the berm minimally, however the 
beach access is exempt from the five-foot rule.  

 Mr. Riggs stated that it is a berm and not a dune. 



Page 6 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

 Since their first meeting, Mr. Wilson has received all permits necessary to come into 
compliance. 

 The survey was completed as requested. 
 Along with the Division of Coastal Management, they agreed on a game plan for a 

proper beach access. 
 At this point, they have performed in good faith to be compliant with the Town and 

would appreciate the Board’s consideration in this matter. He didn’t believe there was 
any malicious intent. 

Attorney Edes asked about the dates of exhibits 36 and 37. 
Mr. Riggs explained that both exhibit 36 and exhibit 37 are dated April 21st, 2023.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Riggs if it was his understanding that the work that occurred within 
the five-foot buffer occurred prior to the issuance of those exemption letters. 
Mr. Riggs noted that exhibit 36, exemption 18-23 is a renewal of a former exemption 18-21, 
and he did not know when that was issued. He continued stating he did not believe there was 
any disturbance within five-feet of the dune because it was a berm, and any disturbance that 
may have occurred within five-feet of the dune was beach access related. It was his opinion 
that a beach access is exempt from the rule. 
Attorney Edes stated that he believed Mr. Riggs was referring to the provision of the ordinance, 
“No disturbance, no development, no structure shall be permitted within five feet of the 
landward toe of the dune ‘dune buffer’ except beach access crossovers as permitted” 
explaining that he understood the difference between permitted and exempted. He believed 
that it was relevant when those exemptions were issued in relation to the notice of violation. 
Mr. Wilson provided testimony that he did not have the exact date of the original CAMA 
permit, but he believed it was September of 2022. 
Attorney Edes asked if that was prior to work being performed related to the beach crossover. 
Mr. Wilson stated that it was issued prior to doing any work. 
Attorney Edes asked Planning Director Hill if there was anything in the exhibits the Town 
introduced that would reflect the original issue of the state of a crossover exemption and if so, 
was that exemption for the same area where this crossover was going on the property. 
Planning Director Hill offered NTB-1 “Application by Mark Wilson [Boike is a typo]” exemption 
number EX47-22 dated October 26, 2022, and stated that the site drawing and materials 
submitted with the CAMA application were August 26, 2022, listed on exhibit NTB-20.  
Attorney Edes asked for confirmation that the staff report states the exemption letter was 
issued by CAMA in October 2022.  
Planning Director Hill confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked if Ms. Hill prepared the staff report. 
Ms. Hill confirmed. 
The Board questioned Mr. Riggs. 
Ms. Meyer asked where it was stated that sandbags are considered berms and not dunes, and 
when did the rule change allowing crossovers on sandbags. 
Mr. Riggs responded that the position of the Division of Coastal Management was that they are 
berms, confirmed by the fact that no hardened structures are allowed to be built across them. 
He only knew this specifically through experience with the Division of Coastal Management. 



Page 7 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

This case was a privately owned lot, and they had the right to access the ocean with post-and-
rope in a specific area. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs had stated earlier that the Division of Coastal Management 
also called these starter dunes. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed that he has seen that language used, in addition to berms.  
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs had seen that the area contains vegetation. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed, sparsely vegetated, yes. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs agreed that the geotextile tubes or sandbags were covered by 
sand that had vegetation on top of them. 
Mr. Riggs agreed, offering that his photos in exhibits 34 and 35 plainly show six inches to a foot 
of sand and some vegetation on the sandbags. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs agreed or at least heard reference to that type of 
topographical feature as being a starter dune. 
Mr. Riggs agreed, but mostly a berm, but they had started using the term starter dune. 
Mr. Kuegel read from exhibit 20 “the CAMA representative did inform me on site, that it would 
be in my best interest not to keep the crossover, but to just keep the current switchback and a 
rope way down” and asked Mr. Wilson to explain the current switchback, with Mr. Wilson’s 
definition of a switchback; was there a switchback there when he wrote the email.  
Mr. Wilson stated essentially, yes. Mr. Wilson continued to explain that when he wrote the 
email, nothing was there. The email was a rebuttal to the appeal.   
Mr. Kuegel asked if they had torn the switchback out. 
Mr. Wilson stated it was gone, his contractors removed it. 
Ms. Meyer asked if it was part of the original footprint. 
Mr. Wilson stated they are not doing a switchback; just the steps down to a landing and then 
post-and-rope going over. 
Mr. Kuegel asked where in exhibit 5 were the stairs going down and were the posts shown 
supposed to be for a landing? 
Mr. Wilson stated that was where the landing would have been with stairs going back toward 
the house. 
Mr. Kuegel asked where the landing was in the original footprint in the evidence that Mr. Riggs 
provided. 
Mr. Wilson explained that was going back in a similar manner to what was originally there 
before. 
Chair McCloud asked for clarification between the original request for a walkway toward the 
beach, and the new request for a set of stairs and a landing, not a walkway. 
Mr. Wilson stated that they wanted something different now than what they originally wanted 
in August.  
Mr. Kuegel stated that this hearing was an appeal, not an application for a variance. He 
suggested the applicant apply for a permit for the new plans. The Board convened for an appeal 
to a violation of three Town Codes.  
Mr. Riggs explained that as part of the appeal process, they were showing that it was their 
position they did not feel as though they violated some of the rules the Town was imposing. For 
example the proposed beach access, though it was changed, was still allowed under the Town’s 



Page 8 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

rules and the minimal disturbance was based solely on beach access, not improvement of the 
envelope of the house. They were requesting an appeal on the citation. 
Planning Director Hill offered they were requesting an appeal on the citation and asked if they 
sought approval on the proposed post and rope. 
Attorney Edes stated that the Board could not approve what was presented; that was not 
before the Board of Adjustment.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if the original switchback was actually constructed and then 
removed. 
Mr. Wilson stated no, the cross braces for the pylons in NTB-5 was the extent of what was 
done. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he saw the vegetation in the picture on the neighboring lot 
close to the fascia board of the neighboring deck. 
Mr. Wilson agreed. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he saw the configuration of the berm/starter dune north of 
this property and then down by the staple gun on the southern portion of the picture on top of 
a sandbag. 
Mr. Wilson agreed. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson had to clear down to the sandbags. 
Mr. Wilson stated no. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if it was his testimony that despite the appearance north of 
this property, there was no removal of sand or anything like that. That is just the way it was. 
Mr. Wilson stated yes, sir. The maintenance of the dunes, the berms, the house, was not 
maintained by the previous owner.  
Mr. Kuegel asked if Mr. Wilson added sand to the lot, or covered vegetation with sand. 
Mr. Wilson stated no, the sand in the picture was from digging for the pylons. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if the disturbed sand in the picture was disturbed from in and 
around that area.  
Mr. Wilson agreed. 
Planning Director Hill left the room at 7:14 p.m. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Wilson if he saw the staplegun on exhibit 4. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed he did.  
Attorney Edes asked about the excavated hole next to the sandbag structure in the picture. 
Mr. Wilson stated it was about five feet off that structure. 
Attorney Edes asked to look straight up the picture to the two little holes of excavation in 
between the sandbags. 
Planning Director Hill returned to the room at 7:16 p.m. 
Mr. Riggs stated he believes the holes were dug for the proposed beach access.  
Attorney Edes asked if the holes were dug by Mr. Wilson’s people.  
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson had to submit a configuration of a crossover to receive the 
exemption letter. 
Mr. Wilson stated no. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson had identified it as a switchback crossover or as a traditional 
type crossover to get the exemption letter. 



Page 9 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Mr. Wilson replied a switchback crossover. 
Attorney Edes asked if the configuration presently was different from the switchback crossover. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson had received an exemption letter for the new configuration.  
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Mr. Kuegel asked when Mr. Wilson received the new configuration exemption letter. 
Mr. Wilson stated he believed April 21st. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Wilson’s testimony was that the disturbance of the sandbags in 
exhibit 4 – was in connection with a crossover to be built pursuant to an exemption letter 
issued by the Division of Coastal Management. 
Mr. Wilson replied a switchback, yes.  
Attorney Edes asked if it was Mr. Wilson’s position that a switchback is different than a 
crossover. 
Mr. Wilson confirmed. 
Mr. Edes asked if Mr. Wilson understood that the actual ordinance at issue refers to crossovers, 
not switchbacks. 
Mr. Wilson stated that he did understand that. 
Chair McCloud asked Attorney Edes for confirmation that the Board convened to discover 
whether Mr. Wilson violated the Town dune protection ordinance. Staff had stopped the work 
because of their belief that there was a violation of the ordinance.  
Attorney Edes stated that was his understanding from the appellant himself, that his original 
exemption letter was for a switchback, which he acknowledged was different than a crossover. 
Subsequent to the March hearing, the appellant obtained an exemption for a crossover in April. 
Mr. Wilson said that was misstated. The April CAMA exemption letter was for the repair of rear 
deck, stairs, and landing with post and rope dune crossing.  
Attorney Edes asked if that was a crossover to the beach. 
Mr. Wilson replied he didn’t like to use the word crossover, because crossover implies a 
hardened structure going across over to the beachside. Post and rope would be walking over. 
Attorney Edes mentioned that Mr. Riggs had pointed out the ordinance pertaining to 
crossovers, which did not say anything about switchbacks or post-and-rope, so it is a significant 
point. 
Mr. Riggs replied that it is his opinion that a switchback can be part of a beach crossover. 
Attorney Edes asked then why was there a need for a second exemption letter? There was an 
exemption letter issued in October of 2022, and according to Mr. Riggs exhibits 36 and 37 are 
two additional exemption letters, one of which was an extension of a previously issued 
exemption. What was the need for the third exemption letter? 
Mr. Wilson agreed and stated that third exemption letter covers moving sand from the 
northeastern side of the property to strengthen the berm. 
Attorney Edes answered Chair McCloud that according to testimony and staff’s exhibits, there 
was in October 2022 an exemption letter for some sort of crossover structure and that was 
what they were there for. He asked what was the status on the date the notice of violation was 
issued. He encourages staff to work with citizens to explore a mutually agreeable solution to 
some issues. He confirmed that Chair McCloud was absolutely right, the question for the 



Page 10 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

meeting’s discussion was whether staff through Ms. Hill interpreted those three code sections 
correctly, based on what was going on at the time that the notices of violation were issued. 
Chair McCloud stated that an hour and a half was wasted talking about something not pertinent 
to the code violation, rebuilding of damaged dunes. Dunes, berm, it doesn’t make any 
difference- one is a baby berm and then it becomes a dune. The terminology changed recently. 
When this ordinance was written, it was to prevent damage to the dunes. The Town is 
protecting our dunes, our people, our properties. The violation was ten thousand dollars 
because this was important to the whole ecosystem of our barrier island. We need to enforce 
our rules. Not knowing that another permit or exemption was needed has nothing to do with 
the damage of the dunes. 
Mr. Riggs replied that their position was that any damage that was caused by the dune was 
caused in the attempt to build a beach access, and a beach access is exempt from the five-foot 
rule. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if it was Mr. Riggs’ opinion that the beach access which was trying to be built 
was permitted. 
Mr. Riggs replied that he was not sure of that. He was not involved at the time, but a portion of 
it appears to be permitted. He stated he was not sure, as the holes which were dug could have 
been for post-and-rope. Any disturbance was for the beach access, based upon the exemption 
letter received earlier.  
Vice Chair Dorazio stated that on the exemption letter it still states you have to get a local 
permit. 
Chair McCloud added which was never done. 
Mr. Kuegel added that the other exemption letter says “in order to minimize impacts to sea 
turtles anywhere occurring between April 1 and November 15th shall require review from US 
Fish and Wildlife” so there was another stipulation on another exemption letter. 
Mr. Wilson presented his closing arguments that it was an existing home remodel, no zoning 
permit was required. He was going off of Coastal Management’s definition of the engineered 
berm, until it has established vegetation it is still considered an engineered berm. He 
understood the point of calling it a dune. At the end of the day, words have meaning. What 
crime are you being charged with. Dunes as defined by Coastal Management have established 
vegetation. In his case, he didn’t have established vegetation. His intent was to do the beach 
access and with the third exemption letter reinforce that berm to strengthen the ecosystem in 
the dunes. With his scope of work repairing the deck, if something would have been caught, he 
would have fixed it. He just carried on, and called in inspections as needed. 
Attorney Edes advised the Board to proceed to deliberations and explained the procedure. 
Ms. Meyer asked if Building Inspector Allen ever lifted the stop order.  
Mr. Wilson answered that it was still posted. 
The Board of Adjustment discussed the stop work order and violations.  
Attorney Edes recommended discussing the three violations one by one.  
There was discussion.  
It was clarified there were four violations to address:  

 §10.07.02 REBUILDING OF DAMAGED DUNES 
 §10.02.01 DEVELOPMENT WITHOUT A PERMIT 
 §10.02.02 DEVELOPMENT INCONSISTENT WITH A PERMIT 



Page 11 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

 §10.02.03 VIOLATION OF CONDITIONS IMPOSED 
§10.07.02. Ms. Kuegel made a motion to affirm staff’s decision I don’t see any errors. Mr. 
Morse seconded the motion. Motion unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
 

§10.02.01 Mr. Kuegel made a motion that we affirm the staff’s decision. Mr. Dorazio 
seconded the motion. Motion unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
 

§10.02.02 Mr. Morse made a motion we affirm staff’s decision. Mr. Kuegel seconded the 
motion. Motion unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
 

§10.02.03 Ms. Meyer moved that we affirm the Town’s decision. Mr. Morse seconded the 
motion. Motion unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
 

Attorney Edes explained that with staff he would draft an order consistent with the votes. 
 

The Board of Adjustment recessed at 7:43 p.m. 
The Board of Adjustment returned at 7:51 p.m. 
 

NEW BUSINESS 
 

CASE #AA23-000004: Appeal by Capital Asset Topsail Development LLC 
Attorney Edes Attorney Edes reminded the Board of Adjustment that the case was an appeal 
from a final staff decision on §10.07.02 Rebuilding of Damaged Dunes, for a property located at 



Page 12 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

402 New River Inlet Road, North Topsail Beach, North Carolina, for a citation issued March 28, 
2023. He stated that Mr. Plaford had agreed that the same stipulations apply to this hearing.  
Attorney polled the Board of Adjustment regarding their roles as impartial decision makers. He 
asked the Board if anyone had any basis that would prevent them from being fair and impartial 
to base their votes solely on the competent evidence produced during the hearing. All Board 
members replied no.  
Attorney Edes reviewed the quasi-judicial hearing process. 
Clerk Winzler swore in appellant Chris Plaford, surveyor Charles Riggs, and Planning Director 
Deb Hill. 
Planning Director Hill reviewed subject matter and entered into evidence exhibits NTB-1 
through NTB-17, PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 1 through PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 21. Ms Hill added Exhibit 
NTB-17 the zoning permit for the swimming pool at 402 New River Inlet Road.  
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Plaford if he had any objections to the Town’s exhibits 1-17 coming 
into evidence for this hearing, or any objections to his own exhibits 1-21. 
Mr. Plaford responded no. 
Attorney Edes recommended the Board receive North Topsail Beach exhibits 1-17 into evidence 
without objection and the appellant’s exhibits 1-21 into evidence without objection.  
Ms. Meyer brought up a point of clarification, noting that the zoning permit exhibit was labeled 
NTB-5, when there was already an NTB-5 in the packet. 
Planning Director Hill stated the zoning permit exhibit should be labeled NTB-17. 
Attorney Edes recommended that the Board receive 1-17 from North Topsail Beach and 1-21 
from the appellant into evidence without objection. 
Chair McCloud stated yes. 
Planning Director Hill stated that the appellant completed the dune remediation within twenty-
four hours of the March 28th, 2023 email. She met with Mr. Riggs, Philip Norris, and Building 
Inspector Ralph Allen. It was an immediate response.  
Mr. Kuegel left the room at 8:11 p.m. 
Mr. Kuegel returned to the room at 8:11 p.m. 
Mr. Kuegel asked Planning Director Hill if the pool itself was not in violation. 
Ms. Hill confirmed that the pool was properly permitted with a safety net in place. The grading 
of the lot went a little too close to the dune. The pool meets the five-foot buffer. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if the mediation meant it was put back like it was. 
Ms. Hill confirmed. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if there was an evidence photo of the meditation. 
Attorney Edes explained that the proper term was remediation. 
Mr. Kuegel agreed. 
Ms. Hill answered that PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 19, PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 20, and PLAINTIFF’S 
EXHIBIT 21 were taken on March 29, 2023 the day after the notice was issued.  
Mr. Kuegel asked what spurred the complaint. 
Ms. Hill responded the Building Inspector was driving by, saw it, called her, and she responded. 
Vice Chair Dorazio asked on PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 17 what the two pink flag survey stakes were 
marking in the dune. 



Page 13 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Ms. Hill stated she would have to let Mr. Rigg’s answer that question. She believed that they 
indicated the agreed upon location of the toe of the dune. Mr. Hill stated that it showed up 
best in PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 21. 
Attorney Edes recommended that the Board hear that directly from Mr. Riggs. 
Charles Riggs, 502 New Bridge Street, Jacksonville received a packet from the Board and passed 
out an additional packet of documents on behalf of the appellant. 
Attorney Edes asked if they could agree that Mr. Riggs’ submittal in its aggregate be called 
PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 22. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. 
Attorney Edes recommended that the Board accept into evidence PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 22 
without objection. 
Chair McCloud agreed. 
Mr. Riggs continued stating that he was speaking on behalf of Mr. Plaford who was in 
attendance. 
Attorney Edes corrected Mr. Riggs, stating that in North Carolina, it was a quasi-judicial hearing, 
so Mr. Riggs may not practice law. Mr. Riggs was allowed to provide testimony relevant to his 
client’s appeal. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. He continued that they were there to explain that any disturbance that 
occurred on the property, they felt was permitted. Mr. Riggs had surveyed the property from 
2017 up until Mr. Plaford purchased the property under Capital Assets Development. 
PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 2 is a June 1, 2022 survey showing the boundary survey and preliminary 
plot plan that reflects the vehicles, proposed dwelling, proposed pool, proposed beach access, 
and the first line of vegetation as flagged by the Division of Coastal Management. PLAINTIFF’S 
EXHIBIT 3 is the same survey that was revised to reflect the landward toe of the dune, dated 
June 27, 2022. That survey was used to receive the existing CAMA permit 43-22 as illustrated on 
PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 5-7. It permits the residence and all improvements including the pool. 
PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 8 should be the building permit issued on August 19, 2022 [correction: this 
document is PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 22 page 6]. PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 9 is a survey Mr. Riggs 
prepared dated June 27, 2023 [correction: this document is PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 22 page 7] this 
is the same survey they had prepared the previous year, with the exception that it is showing 
the existing dwelling because it is under construction, and the existing pool. It illustrates the 
proposed beach access which had not been built yet. The green line shown is the landward toe 
of the dune from June of 2022. The blue line is the landward toe of the dune on March 28, 
2023. This area of sand dune shifted ten feet closer to the street than the dune that was 
permitted by CAMA and the building permit for the house and the pool using the June 2022 
survey.  PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 10 [correction: this document is PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 9] is an 
enlargement of that: the existing pool, the green line of June 27, 2022 and the blue line 
landward toe in March 29, 2023.  
Attorney Edes correctly identified that document as PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 9. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. The blue line was based on when the Town of North Topsail Beach came to 
the site for the dune disturbance. Mr. Riggs did not think the dune had been disturbed because 
he had surveyed it a year before. Mr. Riggs located that line and illustrated it, it was staked and 
the photographs show that it was restored. Mr. Riggs stated that it was his opinion, based on 
the evidence, that they did not disturb the landward toe of the dune because all their permits 



Page 14 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

were based on a previous landward toe of the dune.  Mr. Riggs explained that CAMA permit 43-
22 was issued on 07/05/2022, the building permit was issued 08/19/2022, the 5’ rule was 
adopted 09/07/2022, and the pool permit was issued 11/17/2022. 
Mr. Riggs reviewed the following PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBITS: 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 10 Photograph from previous survey work on the property, April 3, 
2019 at 12:08. The two stakes are the first stable line of stable vegetation on that day. 
The shorter one labeled 1006 was Mr. Riggs’ stake, the taller weathered wood was 
staked by Division of Coastal Management. It shows how flat the lot is, and the toe of 
the dune is right near the dune itself. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 11 Photograph from April 19, 2022 showing Division of Coastal 
Management’s first line of vegetation flag. You can see how the dune has progressed, 
however the toe of the dune is only a few feet away from the first line. You get a 
perspective of where the toe of the dune is based on the adjoining property. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 12 Photograph from July 20, 2022 at 12:05 shows how flat the lot is 
and the approximate location of a dwelling with the wood stakes. You can see the toe of 
the dune using the adjoining property to gain a perspective of where it is. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 13 Photograph of the same lot showing the access to the left, 
people walking across the lot, the sharpness of how quickly the dune comes down on 
the landward side. The stakes are the proposed dwelling.  

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 14 a photograph taken on March 28, 2023 16:14, 4 o’clock in the 
afternoon. It shows the safety fence around the pool, the dune itself, and the 
disturbance that has happened. To get a perspective, you can see the latticework and 
the toe of the dune on the adjoining lot versus where it is on this lot and comparing it 
with the previous photos, you can see that the disturbance, in his opinion, was a valid 
activity because they based it off the permitted toe of the dune from the previous year. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 15 Photograph from March 28, 2023 showing where the previous 
toe of the dune was staked a year earlier. The dunes were man-made without a lot of 
vegetation at the time, so a lot of sand sloughed off quicker than if there had been 
existing vegetation. It was a good illustration of what was disturbed versus the previous 
toe of the dune.  

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 16 Photograph from the same perspective. 
 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 17 Photograph from a different angle showing the disturbance and 

then the toe of the dune. 
 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 18 Photograph from March 28, 2023 same stakes with the original 

toe of the dune and the disturbance.  
 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 19 Photograph taken on March 29th, 2023 at 9:47 in the morning. 

It shows the land disturbing activity, the wood stakes for the planned decking around 
the existing pool, and the land disturbance. 

Chair Dorazio remarked at how the dune built up that high in one year. 
Mr. Riggs admitted he was surprised. 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 20 darker but the same, the photograph reflects the wood stakes 
where the concrete will end around the pool. The red flags are the disturbance from 
March 28th, 2023. 



Page 15 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

 PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 21 photograph different angle, different side. It shows the 
disturbance, the pool, and the dune. 

Mr. Riggs explained that it was their position that the disturbance was based off permits they 
had in hand. The CAMA permit, building permit, and pool permit all used his survey from June 
of 2022, which showed the toe of the dune in a certain location. Their position was that they 
were right. They immediately repaired it knowing the Town was upset about it. He stated his 
appreciation for the Board’s consideration in their appeal of this decision about the citation. He 
stated that he thinks the Town of North Topsail Beach needs to consider the issue that when 
permits are granted based off previous surveys and nine months later conditions change, what 
is the proper procedure. He expressed that he felt like they were vested in the permits they had 
and did the proper thing.  
Mr. Kuegel asked what the red shaded area was on PLAINTIFF’S EXHIBIT 9. 
Mr. Riggs explained it reflected the amount of disturbance that occurred within the toe of the 
dune.  
Mr. Kuegel asked for an approximation of that width. 
Mr. Riggs answered 2.1 feet by 37 feet and totaled 51.6 square feet. It was not their intent to 
violate the rules, they felt as if they were within the rules at the time.  
Mr. Morse asked Planning Director Hill if there was an expiration date on permits. 
Ms. Hill replied a building permit expires after six months if there is no activity. A zoning permit 
expires after either six months or a year.  
Mr. Morse asked if the pool would be able to be installed in the same location if it was applied 
for last month. 
Ms. Hill replied there was more than a five-foot buffer, so the pool itself would not have been 
an issue. 
Mr. Morse asked based on the previous survey and the permitting process if there was an 
adjustment or a precedence for how citations are issued, considering dune movement. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if this was the first time this was an issue. 
Ms. Hill stated that this was the first time that this circumstance had occurred, where they 
pulled the permits and did what they were supposed to do.  
Mr. Morse explained he wanted to be firm and consistent. 
Ms. Hill explained that is why there is a Board of Adjustment for the appeal process.   
Mr. Riggs stated it was important that the Board know they were fully permitted before the 
ordinance came into effect. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if the same issue would come before the Board when they install the fence 
and the concrete. 
Mr. Riggs stated that they had the fence and the pool permits from the Town and CAMA, 
before the ordinance came into effect. 
Attorney Edes asked Mr. Riggs to clarify, as he believed Mr. Riggs stated that the pool permit 
was issued after the ordinance.  
Mr. Riggs replied that the Town may have permitted the pool after, but the CAMA permit did 
permit the pool prior. 
Attorney Edes stated that CAMA’s permit contemplates and requires the permittee to get any 
applicable local, in this case, North Topsail Beach permits. 
Mr. Riggs agreed.  



Page 16 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Attorney Edes stated he understood that they had the building permit before the ordinance 
was adopted, in September of 2022. The pool permit was applied for and obtained after the 
ordinance was adopted.  
Mr. Riggs stated based on the submittal he had received earlier in the evening, the issuance 
date was November 17, 2022. The application date looks like October 5, 2022.  
Attorney Edes pointed out that both were after September 7, 2022. 
Mr. Riggs agreed. 
Attorney Edes asked if there was an application requirement to show the toe of the dune. 
Ms. Hill confirmed. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed, stating that it was shown on the survey of June 27th, 2022. 
Attorney Edes asked if Mr. Riggs had submitted that survey for the pool permit. 
Mr. Riggs confirmed it was the same survey submitted for the CAMA permit and the building 
permit. 
Mr. Kuegel asked if the concrete and the fence would be installed within the same area of 
disturbance. 
Ms. Hill stated that she did not think it would be.  
Attorney Edes stated that he believed it was beyond the scope of the hearing. A future 
potential violation would not bear on whether a violation has occurred. He acknowledged Mr. 
Kuegel’s point. 
Planning Director Hill asked Mr. Riggs if he had a copy of the plat submitted with the pool 
application. 
Mr. Riggs answered that he did not submit the pool application, but it was more than likely the 
survey submitted with the CAMA application.  
Mr. Kuegel stated that the pool as it sat was not an issue, and the permitted pool features were 
permitted. 
Attorney Edes stated that would be dealt with if it occurred, but for the purpose of this meeting 
it was not material. 
Mr. Riggs stated their position was that any disturbance was in good faith and only occurred 
because they used the plans as it was permitted.  
Attorney Edes stated that the permit is relevant, but the future potential violation is not. If Mr. 
Riggs’ survey was submitted in connection with the pool permit then the Town approved that 
permit based on that survey, but based upon Mr. Riggs’ testimony the landward toe of the 
dune moved ten feet to where it is today. 
Mr. Riggs explained that the pool permit was issued in November, and the disturbance occurred 
in March.  
Chair McCloud explained that a storm in March changed the dune again.  
There was discussion among the Board.  
Vice Chair Dorazio explained that he sees survey stakes being placed five feet away from the 
toe of the dune for current projects, leaving no question. 
 Mr. Riggs explained that he suggests that his clients place the silt fence there, so there won’t 
be any disturbance beyond there. 
There was discussion. 
Mr. Kuegel asked Attorney Edes if the Board could modify a staff decision on an appeal. 
Attorney Edes confirmed that it must be a rationally based modification. 



Page 17 of 17                                                                   Town of North Topsail Beach  
Zoning Board of Adjustment Special Meeting June 28, 2023 

Appellant Chris Plaford explained that the pool sits where it sits today, but where they were 
clearing toward was to include the decking that was permitted to go around the pool. 
Mr. Morse added that it was based on the original survey and the original stakes in the ground. 
Mr. Plaford confirmed.  
Mr. Kuegel asked if it was permitted, why were they there. 
Ms. Meyer stated because Planning Director Hill had to go by what the rules are now.  
Mr. Kuegel asked about the installation beyond the pool, if the remediation was outside the 
envelope of the features that would go around the pool. 
Mr. Riggs stated that he felt it would.  
There was discussion. 
Ms. Dorazio made a motion to reverse it. Mr. Morse seconded the motion. Motion 
unanimously approved, 5-0, as follows: 
Roll call  Vote 
Vice Chair Dorazio Aye 
Chair McCloud Aye 
Mr. Morse  Aye 
Mr. Kuegel  Aye 
Ms. Meyer  Aye 
Attorney Edes stated that he, along with staff would draft an order reflecting this vote. 
 

DISCUSSION 
Planning Director Hill explained that the Planning Board and Board of Adjustment were short 
and need volunteers.  
There was discussion. 
 

ADJOURNMENT Mr. Dorazio made a motion to adjourn. Mr. Morse seconded. Motion passed 
5-0. 
 

The Zoning Board of Adjustment meeting adjourned at 9:02 p.m. 
 

APPROVED  CERTIFIED 
This 24th day of January 2024 This 24th day of January 2024 
 
________________________  __________________________ 
Hanna McCloud Kate Winzler 
Chair        Clerk 




























































	2023.06.28 Special ZBA Meeting Draft Minutes
	Case #AA23-000003 Exhibit NTB-31
	Case #AA23-000003 Exhibits 32-38
	Exhibit NTB-17
	PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT 22

